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Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to appear before your committee to present the views of the Department
of the Interior on H.R. 437. This bill would direct the Secretary of the Interior to undertake a study of Coltsville, a site

in Hartford, Connecticut, for potential inclusion in the National Park System.

The Department supports H.R. 437. The Coltsville study area includes nationally-significant buildings including
Armsmear, a National Historic Landmark, and structures that are part of the Colt Industrial National Register District.
The history of this site complements that of the Springfield Armory National Historic Site, a unit of the National Park
Service. Together they could show how innovations in the firearms industry laid the foundation for the American
system of manufacturing. Only through further investigation will it be possible to determine if some part of the study
area is feasible and suitable for inclusion in the National Park System, and what role, if any, the National Park Service

should play at this site. The study should cost approximately $300,000 to complete.

The National Park Service is in various stages of progress with 40 studies previously authorized by Congress. At least
17 of those studies are scheduled to be completed in Fiscal Year 2003. Seven additional studies are expected to be
completed early in Fiscal Year 2004. Our highest priority is to complete the studies previously authorized by

Congress, but we expect to begin work on newly authorized studies as soon as funds are available.

The bill directs the National Park Service to study the site commonly known as *“Coltsville,” and its surrounding area
within the City of Hartford, to evaluate its national significance, suitability, and feasibility for designation as a unit of
the National Park System. The bill also directs NPS to evaluate the importance of the site to the history of precision

manufacturing.

At the core of the Coltsville area, which is estimated at some 260-acres, is the 17-acre Coltsville Heritage Park.

Recently acquired by a private developer from a non-profit subsidiary of the Goodrich Corporation, this site contains



ten historic buildings, some of which are occupied by commercial, residential, and office tenants; a number of artists
also live and work in the complex. Also within the study area, but in separate ownership, are examples of former Colt
worker housing and other buildings associated with Colt history. The potential study area borders Interstate 91, which
parallels the Connecticut River, and is close to the central business district where the State Capitol and Museum of
Connecticut State History are located. The State Museum is a major repository of Colt-related artifacts and archives,

as is the Wadsworth Atheneum, a renowned museum also in the city center.

Samuel Colt was born in Hartford in 1814 and died there in 1862. He obtained his first patent in 1836 and went on to
found a company that is still in operation today, although it moved from the historic armory to West Hartford,
Connecticut and is no longer owned by the Colt family. The Colt name is known throughout the world. Colt firearms

and other products have been used in every major conflict from the U.S.-Mexican War to the present.

The Colt revolver was a revolutionary weapon that changed military tactics and eventually made the sword obsolete in
combat. First produced in 1847, it maintained its reputation through the Civil War despite competition from other
manufacturers. Colt’s salesmanship was legendary, and the company grew due to his marketing, advertising, and
public relations skills. He began construction of his first factory in Hartford in 1847. At the 1851 Crystal Palace
Exhibition in London, Colt revolvers were displayed and their interchangeability demonstrated as a highlight of the
“American System of Manufacturing.” Colt was so impressed with his reception in England that he would build a

factory there, becoming the first American to set up a manufacturing plant overseas.

The Hartford facility expanded in the mid-19t" century. The armory’s distinctive blue onion dome, a Hartford
landmark visible from 1-91, was built in 1855. In order to attract laborers, Colt built a self-contained community
surrounding the factory at Coltsville that included housing, gardens, beer halls, and a band. A library and school were
established for the children of the workers, as well as a church and social hall. Many of these structures are still extant
and are part of the Colt Industrial National Register District that was listed in 1976. The Colt family home, Armsmear,
a National Historic Landmark, and its surrounding grounds are situated in Colt Park, abutting the armory site. The

original factory burned in 1864, but was rebuilt soon after.

Colt would continue to supply sidearms to the United States military until 1985. Colt weapons were carried not only

by the American soldier on the frontier, but were the personal weapon of choice of cowboys, both famous and



infamous.

Colt history complements that of Springfield Armory National Historic Site, which is managed by the National Park
Service in Springfield, Massachusetts, 25-miles north of Hartford along the Connecticut River. Originally Springfield
Armory produced shoulder arms while Colt made handguns. Later they worked together to bring the rapid-fire gun
and later the machine-gun into the inventories of the U.S. military. But in 1961 Colt challenged Springfield Armory’s
M14 rifle while promoting its competing AR-15, now known as the M16 rifle. This ultimately resulted in the demise

of Springfield Armory in 1968.

The Colt story is also the story of Elizabeth Colt, who took over the factory after her husband’s death in 1862, and ran
it successfully for another 39 years. The history of this remarkable woman is not well-known and should be included

as part of the study.

In our 1998 Connecticut River Valley Special Resource Reconnaissance Study, we said, “innovations stimulated by
firearms manufacture, notably mass production and the concept of interchangeable parts, had far-reaching
consequences throughout American industry.” As the skills developed in firearms manufacture were given broader
application, the corridor between New Haven, Connecticut and Windsor, Vermont became known as the “Precision
Valley.” Developments in arms making translated to other metal working industries, such as sewing machines,

typewriters, bicycles, railway equipment, and clocks.

The study would be undertaken with the full involvement of representatives of the State of Connecticut, the City of

Hartford, property owners in the study area, and other interested organizations and individuals in the region.

Thank you for the opportunity to comment. This concludes my prepared remarks. | would be glad to answer any

questions that you or the members of the committee may have.
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Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, thank you for the opportunity to present the Department’s views on

H.R. 1113. This bill would authorize an exchange of land at Fort Frederica National Monument.

The Department supports an exchange of land between Christ Church Frederica and Fort Frederica National
Monument, as outlined in H.R. 1113, in accordance with this testimony. Although appraisals have not been completed
for the two parcels, we expect that the value of the land received by the National Park Service (NPS) will be more than
the value of the land given up so there will be no need for land acquisition funding. The NPS would incur increased
operational costs associated with the exchange because of the archeological value to the park of the acquired lands.
However, the amount of those costs cannot be determined until the significance of the resources present on the site
NPS acquires is established. We also suggest a technical amendment to provide the identification information required

for the map referenced in the hill.

H.R. 1113 would authorize the Secretary to convey to Christ Church of St. Simons Island, Georgia approximately 4.8
acres of land within the boundary of Fort Frederica National Monument in exchange for approximately 8.7 acres of
land near Fort Frederica that will be acquired by Christ Church. Upon completion of the exchange, the Secretary shall
revise the boundary of Fort Frederica National Monument and administer the land acquired through the exchange as

part of the monument.

Fort Frederica National Monument is located 12 miles northeast of Brunswick on St. Simons Island, Georgia. The
monument’ s authorized boundary contains 250 acres and preserves the remains of a fortified town established and laid

out by Governor James Oglethorpe in 1736 to defend against invasion from Spanish colonies in Florida.

Fort Frederica was one of the earliest English settlementsin what ultimately became the State of Georgia, preceded by
Fort King George (1721), located near Darien, Georgia, and the Cities of Savannah (1733) and Augusta (1735), also



established and planned by Oglethorpe. Fort Frederica was a prosperous community of substantial homes whose
residents were tradesmen and farmers supplying the garrison stationed there much the same way communities provide
goods and services to military installations today. In 1739, Britain and Spain entered a war that eventually involved
Fort Frederica. After the 1748 treaty, Frederica’ s military garrison was withdrawn and the town of Fort Frederica fell

into decline. In 1758, a fire destroyed most of the existing structures.

Fort Frederica National Monument was established on May 26, 1936. Subsequent legislation increased the authorized
boundary to 250 acres and directed the Secretary of the Interior to acquire the Battle of Bloody Marsh memorial site
on St. Simons Island. Subject to the 250-acre limitation, the Secretary was also authorized to acquire additional
marshland acreage west of the Frederica River, across from the National Monument, for additional protection of the

historic scene.

On June 29, 1993, following a lengthy campaign involving the efforts and support of the Trust for Public Land and
many private citizens of St. Simons Island, Fort Frederica acquired 28 acres of land, including river frontage on the
south side of the town site, that had been planned for a major marina development. This acquisition preserved the
historic view of the river approach to Fort Frederica. The 4.8-acre parcel that H.R. 1113 directs the Secretary to give

to Christ Church iswithin this 28-acre acquisition.

The 8.7-acre site that Christ Church proposes to exchange for the land at Fort Frederica contains archeological remains
that have been established to be from the colonial period. Tradition indicates that the land includes General
Ogelthorpe’s home, however we are unaware of any archeological survey work that has been completed on this tract to

positively determineif this isthe case.

The main town site within the National Monument contains several well-preserved and partially reconstructed colonial
ruins. There may be additional administrative and operational costs associated with protecting a small archeol ogical
site detached from the main park unit and it has not been determined if that cost is commensurate with the limited
additional interpretive value of the site if it only contains additional Frederica era resources but does not include

Oglethorpe’s home.

We understand that Representative Kingston may amend H.R. 1113 to adjust the acreage figures of the land subject to



the exchange. We have prepared a land exchange map based on the language currently in the bill and the existing
surveys of the two properties proposed for exchange. We would be happy to prepare a new map, but want to work
closely with Mr. Kingston in order to assure that the National Monument’ s artifact storage facility and other buildings
remain within the current boundary of Fort Frederica and that the historic scene is protected. It also would be

important to ensure that the value of the lands exchanged does not require land acquisition funding.

Our technical amendment to provide the map number, title, and date is attached to this testimony.

That completes my testimony. | would be happy to answer any questions that you or any members of the

subcommittee may have.

Proposed Amendment; H.R. 1113

On page 1, line 9, strike out everything starting with “Church and” through the end of subsection (a) and replace it
with the following:

“Church and depicted as “NPS Lands for Exchange” on the map entitled “Fort Frederica National Monument 2003
Boundary Revision”, numbered 369/80016, and dated March 2003, in exchange for the approximately 8.7 acres of land
to be acquired by Christ Church, which is depicted as “Private Lands for Addition” on the same map.”



